ORIGINAL

**IN THE SUPREME COURT
FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA**

LATISHA BABB,

Appellant,

vs.

JENNIFER LOZOWSKY, ET AL,

Respondents.

Sup. Ct. Case No.: 49929

District Ct. Case No.:
CR98P0074B

FILED

STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES

Appellant, LATISHA BABB, filed a direct appeal of her conviction in this case in March 6, 2000, case number 34195. An order affirming the conviction was filed on July 10, 2001 and a remittitur issued on August 7, 2001.

Appellant also filed a direct appeal of the denial of one of several issues raised in her first post-conviction petition. That case, case number 42886, was filed on May 20, 2004. An order affirming the denial of the single issue appealed was entered on November 4, 2004 and the remittitur issued on November 30, 2004.

Co-defendant Shawn Harte filed a direct appeal of his conviction in the same district court case. His direct appeal was case number 34227. On December 4, 2000, this Court issued a published opinion affirming the conviction. The opinion is published as *Harte v. State*, 116 Nev. 1054 (2000). Harte filed a post-conviction appeal, case number 43877. An order dismissing the appeal was entered on April 7, 2005.

Co-defendant Weston Sirex filed a direct appeal of his conviction in the same district court case. His direct appeal was case number 34196. On July 10, 2001, this court issues an order affirming the conviction. Sirex filed a post-conviction appeal, case number 42725. On September 29, 2004, this Court issued an order affirming the denial of his petition for post-conviction relief.

22
23
24
25
26
27
28

II.
STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the Washoe County Public Defender Office's joint representation of Ms. Babb and co-defendant Shawn Harte was an impermissible conflict of interest in violation of Ms. Babb's Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?

2. Whether the conflict of interest was harmful to Ms. Babb in violation of her due process rights, her right to a fair trial and her right to a reliable sentence under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

3. Whether Ms. Babb was deprived of her right to due process, to a fair trial and to a

1 reliable sentence under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments when the jurors were
2 instructed that robbery, an element of the theory of felony murder with which Ms. Babb was
3 charged, was an aggravating circumstance?

4 4. Whether prior counsel's failure to present evidence that Ms. Babb was a battered
5 woman as defense to guilt and as a basis to sever Ms. Babb's case from Mr. Harte's case violated
6 Ms. Babb's right to the effective assistance of counsel and well as her substantive due process
7 rights?

8 5. Whether trial counsel's failure to give an opening statement, combined with his
9 admission in closing argument that she was "probably guilty of robbery" deprived Ms. Babb of
10 the effective assistance of counsel in violation of her Sixth Amendment rights?

11 6. Whether trial counsel's failure to challenge the voluntariness and admissibility of
12 Ms. Babb's statements to the police and to the media deprived her of the effective assistance of
13 counsel in violation of her right to the effective assistance of counsel and her due process rights
14 under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments?

15 7. Whether Ms. Babb was deprived of her right to the effective assistance of counsel
16 and to a fair trial by virtue of the jury instruction that the jurors must do "equal and exact justice"
17 in the penalty phase of Ms. Babb's trial?

18 8. Whether Ms. Babb was deprived of her right to due process, to a fair trial and to
19 the right to confrontation under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments by the admission of codefendant
20 Shawn Harte's statements?

21 **III.**

22 **STATEMENT OF THE CASE / PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

23 The record below is extensive and it is necessary to include all of the proceedings below
24 in this Appeal and the accompanying Appellant's Appendix in order to preserve Ms. Babb's
25 federal constitutional rights and her right to proceed in federal court should the same be
26 necessary.

27 **A. THE TRIAL & DISTRICT COURT PROCEEDINGS**

28 On November 13, 1997, Petitioner, Latisha Babb, and her co-defendants, Weston Sirex

1 and Shawn Harte, were arrested for their suspected involvement in the murder of a Reno taxi cab
2 driver. A Complaint was filed some time thereafter.

3 Following their arrests, they were visited by three lawyers from the Washoe County
4 Public Defender's Office. On November 20, 1997, Ms. Babb and Mr. Harte signed a document
5 entitled "waiver," purporting to waive their right to separate counsel. (Appellant's Appendix,
6 Volume II, pages 43-50, hereinafter cited as "II AAP 43-50".)

7 A preliminary hearing was scheduled for December 1, 1997. (II AAP 43.) The
8 preliminary hearing was waived by Ms. Babb and Mr. Harte. (II AAP 89-90.)

9 An Information was filed on January 15, 1998, charging Ms. Babb and her co-defendants
10 with Murder, a violation of NRS 200.010, 200.030(1) and 193.165, robbery with the use of a
11 deadly weapon in violation of NRS 200.380 and 193.165. (II AAP 51-53.)

12 An arraignment was held on January 22, 1998. (II AAP 54-61.) The arraignment was
13 continued until March 5, 1998. (II AAP 60.)

14 On February 3, 1998, the State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty. (II AAP
15 62-68.)

16 On February 3, 1998, the State filed a Motion to Determine the Validity of the Waiver of
17 Conflict of Interest challenging a written waiver so that the Washoe County Public Defender's
18 Office could represent both Ms. Babb and Mr. Harte. (II AAP 69-78.) An Opposition was filed
19 by the Washoe County Public Defender (II AAP 79-86) as well as a Reply by the State (II AAP
20 87-93).

21 A hearing on the Motion to Determine the Validity of the Waiver was held on February
22 26, 1998. (II AAP 94-126.) The Court found that a conflict existed and that there was no way to
23 cure it. (II AAP 114-120.) The Court removed the Washoe County Public Defender's Office
24 from representing either Ms. Babb or Mr. Harte. (Id.) Paul Giese was appointed to represent
25 Ms. Babb. (II AAP 116-118.) A written Order reflecting the Court's findings was entered on
26 March 5, 1998. (II AAP 127-130.) The case was remanded back to the Justice Court for
27 preliminary hearing because the waiver was deemed invalid. (II AAP 118.)

28 On March 25, 1998, an Indictment was filed charging Ms. Babb, Mr. Harte and Mr. Sirex

1 with murder with the use of a deadly weapon and robbery with the use of a firearm. (II AAP 131-
2 135.) On April 7, 1998, Ms. Babb, Mr. Harte and Mr. Sirex were arraigned on the Indictment. (II
3 AAP 136-150.) Trial was set for March 15, 1999 (II AAP 145.)

4 On June 2, 1998, co-defendant Sirex filed a Motion to Sever the defendants. (II AAP 151-
5 161.) Mr. Harte filed a joinder to Sirex's Motion to Sever on June 12, 1998 (II AAP 162-63),
6 Ms. Babb filed a joinder to his Motion on June 16, 1998. (II AAP 165-165.) The State filed an
7 Opposition to the Motion to Sever on June 22, 1998 (II AAP 166-173) and Mr. Sirex filed a
8 Reply on July 6, 1998 (II AAP 174-181). Ms. Babb filed Supplemental Points and Authorities
9 regarding severance on February 3, 1999. (II AAP 182-186.) Her supplement was joined by Mr.
10 Sirex on February 18, 1999. (II AAP 187-193.)

11 On August 20, 1998, the State filed its Second Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty
12 against all Defendants. (II AAP 194-199.)

13 On October 22, 1998, the court held a status conference to begin resolving evidentiary
14 matters. (II AAP 200-212.)

15 On January 8, 1999, the court held an initial hearing on all pending motions. (II AAP
16 213-224.) At this hearing, the trial court made its initial inquiry as to whether or not counsel
17 were qualified under the new Nevada Supreme Court Rule (Rule 250) to represent the defendants
18 in this case. (II AAP 217.)

19 On January 22, 1999, the State filed a Notice of Facts in Aggravation Pursuant to
20 Amended Supreme Court Rule 250(4)(c) in support of its Notice of Intent to Seek Death Penalty.
21 (II AAP 225-228.)

22 On January 28, 1999, the court held a hearing on pretrial motions. (III AAP 229-267.)
23 The issue of the qualifications of counsel also arose at this hearing. (III AAP 232.)

24 On February 3, 1999, Ms. Babb filed a Motion to Strike the Aggravating Circumstances
25 and to Dismiss the State's Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty. (III AAP 268-278.) The
26 Motion was Joined by Mr. Sirex. (III AAP 279-280.) The State filed an Opposition on February
27 9, 1999. (III AAP 281-288.)

28 On February 10, 1999, the State filed a Notice of Additional Statement of Defendant

1 Harte relating to and inculcating Ms. Babb. (III AAP 289-303.)

2 On February 22, 1999, the court held a pretrial hearing on all pending motions, including
3 the motion to sever and the motion to strike the aggravating circumstances. (III AAP 304-404.)

4 On February 23, 1999, Ms. Babb filed her Notice of Expert Witness disclosing Martha
5 Mahaffey, PhD, her sole expert witness. (III AAP 405-409.)

6 On March 4, 1999, the trial court issued an omnibus order denying the motion for
7 severance filed and joined by all defendants and denying Ms. Babb's Motion to Strike
8 Aggravating Circumstances and to Dismiss the State's Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty.
9 (III AAP 410-423.)

10 Jury instruction in this matter began on March 8, 1999, and a special Juror Instruction "A"
11 and Questionnaire was provided to prospective jurors. (III AAP 424-427.)

12 On March 11, 1999, the court heard additional motions related to jury selection. (III AAP
13 428-481.)

14 On March 12, 1999, Ms. Babb filed an Amended Notice of Witnesses. (III AAP 482-
15 483.)

16 Trial in this case (the guilt phase) began on March 15, 1999 and concluded on March 19,
17 1999. (IV AAP 484-682 through V AAP 673-769—Day One; V AAP 770-869 through VI AAP
18 870-980 – Day Two; VI AAP 981-1048 through VII AAP 1049-1184—Day Three; VII AAP
19 1185-1249 through VIII AAP 1250-1379—Day Four.) The jurors were instructed on March 19,
20 1999. (VIII AAP 1380-1423.) They began deliberating the same day. (Id.)

21 On March 19, 1999, the jurors returned a verdict against Ms. Babb finding her guilty of
22 murder in the first degree with use of a deadly weapon and robbery with the use of a deadly
23 weapon. (VIII AAP 1424-1426.)

24 On March 22, 1999, Ms. Babb filed her Motion to Limit the State's Evidence Regarding
25 the Aggravating Circumstances To the Notice Provided By the State. (VIII AAP 1427-1435.)
26 The Motion was denied. (IX AAP 1520-1521.)

27 On March 22, 23 and 24, 1999, the penalty phase was presented to the jury. (IX AAP
28 1436-1658—March 22nd; X AAP 1659-1858 through XI AAP 1859-1908—March 23rd; and XI

1 AAP 1909-2064—March 24th.) The lawyers gave their closing arguments on March 24, 1999.
2 (XI AAP 1909-2064.)

3 On March 23, 1999, Ms. Babb proposed a special verdict and Mr. Harte proposed an
4 instruction regarding sentencing. (XII AAP 2065-2068.)

5 On March 24, 1999, the jurors were instructed with regard to the penalty phase and neither
6 the proposed special verdict proposed by Babb nor the instruction proposed by Harte were given
7 to the jury. (XII AAP 2069-2087.)

8 On March 24, 1999, the jury found that one aggravating circumstance existed and they set
9 the penalty for Ms. Babb at life without the possibility of parole. (XII AAP 2086-2087.)

10 On May 7, 1999, Ms. Babb was sentenced to two consecutive life without parole
11 sentences and 72 to 180 months in prison for the robbery and use of a deadly weapon. (XII AAP
12 2088-2099.) The Judgment was filed on the same date. (XII AAP 2100-2101.)

13 **B. MS. BABB'S DIRECT APPEAL**

14 Ms. Babb's Notice of Appeal (XII AAP 2102-2103) and Designation of Record (XII AAP
15 2104-2105) were timely filed on May 7, 1999 and her case appeal statement was filed on May 10,
16 1999 (XII AAP 2106-2107).

17 Ms. Babb's Opening Brief was filed on March 6, 2000 (XII AAP 2108-2168) and the
18 Respondent's Answering Brief was filed on May 17, 2000 (XII AAP 2174-2205). The issues
19 raised on direct appeal were as follows:

- 20 • The District Court erred in denying the Motion for Severance;
- 21 • The District Court erred in denying the Motion to Strike the Aggravating
22 Circumstance and to Dismiss the State's Notice of Intent to Seek the Death
23 Penalty;
- 24 • The District Court erred in denying the Motion for More Definitive Statement to
25 Produce Facts, Statement and Evidence in Support of Aggravation to Seek the
26 Death Penalty Pursuant to SCR 250(4)(c);
- 27 • The District Court erred in denying the Motion to Declare Death Penalty Statutes
28 Unconstitutional and in Opposition to the State's Notice of Intent;

- The District Court erred in granting Plaintiff's Motion in Limit to Exclude Defendant Harte's Expert Witnesses, the opposition to which was joined in by appellant;
- The District Court's Instruction on the Elements of Premeditation and Deliberation Improperly Reduced the State's Burden of Proving Premeditation and Deliberation Beyond a Reasonable Doubt;
- Jury Instruction Number 17 Improperly Instructed the Jury That the Use of a Deadly Weapon Amounted to Intent and Premeditation Which In Turn Amounted To First Degree Murder;
- The Reasonable Doubt Instruction Given Impermissibly Reduced the State's Burden of Proving First Degree Murder Beyond a Reasonable Doubt in Violation of Due Process of Law; and
- The trial court erred in failing to disqualify jury foreperson Bradford L. Scott regarding his note to the trial court at the beginning of the penalty phase regarding the "guarantee" that penalties decided upon by the jury will actually be served.

(Id.)

This Court affirmed Ms. Babb's conviction and sentences on July 10, 2001. (XII AAP 2206-2221.) A Remittitur was filed on August 7, 2001. (XII AAP 2222.)

C. POST CONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

1. The December 2001 Habeas Petition

Ms. Babb filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Second Judicial District for the State of Nevada on December 4, 2001. (XII AAP 2223-2235.) Counsel was appointed to represent Ms. Babb and a Supplemental Petition was filed on June 26, 2002. (XII 2236-2250.)

The issues raised in the Supplemental Petition are as follows:

- Ms. Babb's conviction and sentence are invalid under the state and federal constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection of the laws, and a reliable sentence due to the court's failure to sever the trial. (US Const. Amd. V, VI, VIII and XIV.)
- Ms. Babb's conviction and sentence are invalid under the state and federal constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection, trial before an impartial jury and a reliable sentence because of the trial court's failure to properly instruct the jury concerning premeditation and deliberation. (US Const. Amd. V, VI, VIII and XIV.)

- 1 • Ms. Babb's conviction and sentence are invalid under the state and federal
2 constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection of laws, the effective
3 assistance of counsel, and a reliable sentence due to the ineffective assistance of
4 counsel because (a) counsel failed to make any opening statement, (b) counsel
5 admitted to the jury in his closing argument that Ms. Babb had committed robbery,
6 and (c) counsel failed to investigate and present mitigating evidence for the
7 sentencing hearing. (US Const. Amd. V, VI, VIII and XIV.)
- 8 • Ms. Babb's conviction and sentence are invalid under the state and federal
9 constitutional guarantees of due process, and equal protection of laws due to the
10 aggravators presented in support of a death penalty verdict. (US Const. Amd. V,
11 VI, VIII and XIV.)
- 12 • Ms. Babb's conviction and sentence are invalid under the state and federal
13 constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection, trial before an impartial
14 jury and a reliable sentence because of the "equal and exact justice" instruction
15 given during trial which improperly minimized the State's burden of proof. (US
16 Const. Amd. V, VI, VIII and XIV.)
- 17 • Ms. Babb's conviction and sentence are invalid under the state and federal
18 constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection, trial before an impartial
19 jury and a reliable sentence because of the trial court's failure to properly instruct
20 the jury concerning the elements of the capital offense with regard to (a) the
21 instruction on malice aforethought and (b) the felony murder instruction. (US
22 Const. Amd. V, VI, VIII and XIV.)
- 23 • Ms. Babb's conviction and sentence are invalid under the state and federal
24 constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection, trial by jury and a
25 reliable sentence because of the trial court's failure to properly instruct the jury
26 during the penalty phase hearing with regard to (a) the elements of the aggravating
27 factors, and (b) the application of the aggravating factors. (US Const. Amd. V,
28 VII, VIII and XIV.)
- Ms. Babb's conviction and sentence are invalid under the state and federal
constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection, trial before an impartial
jury and a reliable sentence because of the unfairly prejudicial atmosphere in
which her trial and sentencing hearing took place. (US Const. Amd. V, VII, VIII
and XIV.)
- Ms. Babb's conviction and sentence are invalid under the state and federal
constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection of laws due to the
admission into evidence of Ms. Babb's co-defendant's statements which were read
to the jury in violation of Ms. Babb's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation.
(US Const. Amd. V, VII, VIII and XIV.)
- Ms. Babb's conviction and sentence are invalid under the state and federal
constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection, the effective assistance
of counsel, a fair tribunal, an impartial jury, and a reliable sentence due to the

1 cumulative errors resulting from the gross misconduct by the state officials and
2 witnesses and the deprivation of Ms. Babb's right to the effective assistance of
3 counsel. (US Const. Amd. V, VI, VIII and XIV.)

4 (Id.)

5 The State filed a Motion seeking partial dismissal of Ms. Babb's petition for writ of
6 habeas corpus. (XIII AAP 2251-2258.) Ms. Babb filed an Opposition to the same. (XIII AAP
7 2259-2267.) The Court granted the Motion for Partial Dismissal of the Petition for Writ of
8 Habeas Corpus. (XIII AAP 2268-2275.) The district court held, however, that Ms. Babb's claim
9 regarding the ineffective assistance of counsel for his failure to present additional mitigating
10 evidence warranted a hearing. (XIII AAP 2274.)

11 A hearing was held on September 26, 2003 on the single issue of whether Ms. Babb's
12 counsel was ineffective for his failure to present additional mitigating evidence during the penalty
13 phase. (XIII AAP 2276-2419.) Ms. Babb's habeas counsel presented the testimony of eleven
14 witnesses, most of who spoke about the abuse that Ms. Babb suffered at the hands of Mr. Harte
15 and her fear of Mr. Harte. (Id.) All of this evidence was presented in the context of trial
16 counsel's failure to present mitigating evidence as it was relevant to penalty. (Id.)

17 The district court denied Ms. Babb's state court Petition for writ of habeas corpus finding
18 that Ms. Babb had failed to show that she was deprived of the effective assistance of counsel.
19 (XIII AAP 2420-2427.) A notice of entry of order on the district court's judgment was entered on
20 January 30, 2004. (XIII AAP 2428-2438.)

21 2. Appeal of the December 2001 Habeas Petition

22 Ms. Babb filed a timely notice of appeal to the judgment on February 23, 2004. (XIII
23 AAP 2439-2445.) Ms. Babb filed her opening brief on the appeal of the denial of the Petition for
24 Writ of Habeas Corpus on May 20, 2004. (XIV AAP 2446-2471.) In her appeal of the denial of
25 the habeas petition, Ms. Babb's counsel raised the following sole issue: "Whether the district
26 court erred in denying Appellant's petition for post-conviction relief based on counsel's failure to
27 present available and compelling mitigating evidence." (XIV AAP 2449.)

28 The State's Answering Brief was filed on June 21, 2004. (XIV AAP 2472-2489.) This

1 Court affirmed the judgment of the district court on November 4, 2004. (XIV AAP 2490-2494.)
2 The Remittitur issued on November 30, 2004. (XIV AAP 2495.)

3 3. Ms. Babb's Federal Habeas Petition

4 Ms. Babb filed a federal petition for writ of habeas corpus in January 2005, case number
5 02: 05-cv-0061 PMP (RJJ), *Latisha Babb v. Jennifer Lozowsky, et al*, and the undersigned was
6 appointed as her counsel.¹ In her federal petition, Ms. Babb raised several issues that had not
7 been raised previously as well as several issues that had been raised previously, some exhausted,
8 and some unexhausted. As a result of the "mixed" petition consisting of unexhausted and
9 exhausted claims, Ms. Babb's federal case was stayed in order to allow her to complete the
10 proceedings below and herein. That order was entered in June 2006.

11 4. The March 2006 Habeas Petition

12 In March 2006, Ms. Babb filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Second
13 Judicial District, Washoe County. (I AAP 1-37 and Exhibits consisting of volumes I through XI,
14 Exhibits 1 through 71, pages 38 through 2634 herein.) In her March 2006 Petition, Ms. Babb
15 raised the following grounds for relief:

- 16
17 • GROUND ONE: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional right to due process and
18 to a fair trial under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
19 Constitution because she was represented by the same attorney representing her
20 co-defendant during a critical stage in the proceedings against her
- 21 • GROUND TWO: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional right to due process and
22 to a fair trial under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
23 Constitution when her counsel asked her to execute a waiver of conflict of interest,
24 when her counsel asked her to make disclosures in the presence of a third party
25 during an attorney-client privileged meeting, when her counsel refused to obtain
26 evidence that would have been exculpatory to her and when her counsel disclosed
27 factual admissions contained in the waiver to the opposing party and to the court.
- 28 • GROUND THREE: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantees to the
effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
United States Constitution when her counsel asked her to execute a waiver of

¹ The federal habeas petition is not included in this record. It is however, referenced and documented in Ms. Babb's successor petition, which is the subject of this Appeal. (See I AAP 1-37; see also XV AAP 2661-2687 and 2700-2721.)

1 conflict of interest, when her counsel asked her to make disclosures in the presence
2 of a third party during an attorney-client privileged meeting, when her counsel
3 refused to obtain evidence that would have been exculpatory to her and when her
4 counsel disclosed factual admissions contained in the waiver to the opposing party
5 and the court.

- 6 • GROUND FOUR: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional right to due process
7 and to a fair trial under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
8 Constitution when her subsequent trial counsel failed to investigate issues relevant
9 to Ms. Babb's state of mind and her intent to commit the offenses alleged.
- 10 • GROUND FIVE: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantees to the
11 effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
12 United States Constitution because she and her co-defendant were represented by
13 the same attorney during critical stages in the proceedings against her.
- 14 • GROUND SIX: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantees to the
15 effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
16 United States Constitution because her subsequent trial counsel failed to
17 investigate issues relevant to Ms. Babb's state of mind and her intent to commit
18 the offenses alleged and when her appellate counsel failed to raise these issues in
19 the context of her due process rights.
- 20 • GROUND SEVEN: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional right to due process
21 and to a fair trial under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
22 Constitution when her subsequent trial counsel failed to present evidence of her
23 abuse at the hands of the co-defendant as a basis for severance of the codefendants
24 at trial.
- 25 • GROUND EIGHT: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantees to the
26 effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
27 United States Constitution when her subsequent trial counsel failed to present
28 evidence of her abuse at the hands of the co-defendant as a basis for severance of
the defendants at trial and when her appellate counsel failed to raise the issue in
the context of her due process rights.
- GROUND NINE: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional right to due process, to
a fair trial and her right against self-incrimination under the Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution when her subsequent trial counsel
failed to raise issues relating to her statements to the investigating officers,
whether or not she was ever given a Miranda warning and whether or not the
statements were voluntary.
- GROUND TEN: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantees to the
effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
United States Constitution when her subsequent trial counsel and her direct appeal
counsel failed to raise issues related to her statement to the police in the context of

1 her Fifth Amendment rights.

- 2 • GROUND ELEVEN: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantees to due
3 process under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
4 Constitution due to the trial court's failure to sever the defendants at trial.
- 5 • GROUND TWELVE: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional right to due
6 process and to trial before an impartial jury under the Fifth and Fourteenth
7 Amendments to the United States Constitution due to the trial court's failure to
8 properly instruct the jury concerning premeditation and deliberation.
- 9 • GROUND THIRTEEN: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional right to due
10 process and to the effective assistance of counsel under the Fifth, Sixth and
11 Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution when her trial counsel
12 (A) Failed to make any opening statement; (B) Admitted to the jury in his closing
13 argument that Ms. Babb had committed robbery and (C) when counsel failed to
14 investigate and present mitigating evidence relevant to the sentencing hearing.
- 15 • GROUND FOURTEEN: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional right to due
16 process and to trial before an impartial jury under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth
17 Amendments to the United States Constitution when the trial court instructed the
18 jury to do "equal and exact justice" which minimized the state's burden of proof.
- 19 • GROUND FIFTEEN: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional right to due process
20 and to the right to confront and cross examine witnesses against her as guaranteed
21 by the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution
22 due to the admission of her codefendant's statements which were read to the jury.
- 23 • GROUND SIXTEEN: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantees of due
24 process, trial before an impartial jury, and a reliable sentence under the Fifth,
25 Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution based
26 upon the trial court's failure to properly instruct the jurors on the elements of
27 capital offenses with regard to the instruction on (A) malice aforethought and (B)
28 felony murder.
- GROUND SEVENTEEN: Ms. Babb was denied the constitutional guarantees of
due process, trial by jury and a reliable sentence under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution based upon the trial
court's failure to properly instruct the jury during the penalty phase on the
application of the aggravating factors.
- GROUND EIGHTEEN: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantees of
due process and trial by an impartial jury under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution based upon the unfairly prejudicial
atmosphere in which her trial and sentencing hearing took place.
- GROUND NINETEEN: Ms. Babb's constitutional guarantees to due process and

1 to a fair trial under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment to the United
2 States Constitution were denied by the trial court's failure to grant her motion for a
3 more definitive statement to produce facts, statements and evidence in support of
4 aggravation as a predicate to seek the death penalty pursuant to Nevada Supreme
5 Court Rule 250(4)(c).

- 6 • GROUND TWENTY: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantees of due
7 process, the effective assistance of counsel (both at trial and on appeal), trial by an
8 impartial jury and a reliable sentence under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth
9 Amendment to the United States Constitution due to the cumulative errors
10 resulting from the misconduct by the State, by her counsel and by the witnesses
11 against her.
- 12 • GROUND TWENTY ONE: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantee of
13 due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
14 Constitution due to habeas counsel's failure to raise battered women syndrome
15 issues in an context other than those relevant to sentencing.
- 16 • GROUND TWENTY TWO: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional guarantee of
17 due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
18 Constitution due to habeas counsel's failure to raise conflict of interest as a basis
19 for relief during the state habeas proceedings.
- 20 • GROUND TWENTY THREE: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional
21 guarantees of due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
22 United States Constitution due to habeas counsel's failure to retain and present an
23 expert on battered women syndrome as well as her failure to raise trial counsel's
24 failure to do so as an issue.

25 (I AAP 1-37.)

26 The State filed an Answer and a Motion to Dismiss Ms. Babb's petition on May 17, 2006.
27 (XIV AAP 2635-2641.) The Nevada Department of Corrections filed a Return on May 30, 2006.
28 (XIV AAP 2642-2649.) Ms. Babb filed an Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss on June 13,
2006. (XIV 2650-2660.)

A hearing was held on the State's Motion to Dismiss on January 10, 2007. (XV AAP
2661-2687.) At the hearing, the district court dismissed Grounds Two, Three, Five and Eight
through Twenty-Three and permitted Ms. Babb to file a supplement to her Petition with regard to
Grounds One, Four, Six and Seven. (XV AAP 2681-2682.) Ms. Babb's Supplement was filed
on February 9, 2007. (XV AAP 2688-2692.) It alleged as follows:

- 1 • GROUND TWENTY-FOUR: Ms. Babb was denied her constitutional right to due
2 process, to trial before an impartial jury and to a reliable sentence in violation of
3 her guarantees under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the
4 United States Constitution based on the use of an element of felony murder as an
5 aggravating factor during the penalty phase of her trial.
- 6 • Ground Twenty-Four implicates Ground One (raised in the first Petition and
7 Ground Eleven in the current petition)—the district court erred in failing to sever
8 the defendants at trial, in violation of Ms. Babb's various constitutional rights.
- 9 • Ground Twenty-Four implicates Ground Four (raised in the first Petition and
10 Ground Sixteen in the current petition)—the district court erred in giving
11 instructions regarding aggravating circumstances in violation of Ms. Babb's
12 various constitutional rights.
- 13 • Ground Twenty-Four implicates Ground Seven (raised in the first Petition and
14 Ground Seventeen in the current petition)—the district court erred in the manner in
15 which it instructed the jurors to find and/or apply aggravating factors, resulting in
16 the violation of various of Ms. Babb's federal constitutional rights.

17 (XV AAP 2688-2690.)

18 An Order granting in part and denying in part the State's Motion to Dismiss was entered
19 on April 5, 2007. (XV AAP 2697-2699.) The State filed a Motion to Dismiss Ms. Babb's
20 Supplement on March 26, 2007. (XV AAP 2693-2696.) A second hearing was held on April 5,
21 2007. (XV AAP 2700-2721.) On July 5, 2007, the district court issued its findings of fact and
22 conclusions as to Ms. Babb's successor Petition and its Supplement denying the relief sought on
23 all grounds raised by Ms. Babb. (XV AAP 2722-2725.) Notice of Entry of Order was filed on
24 July 26, 2007. (XV AAP 2738.)

25 Ms. Babb filed a timely Notice of Appeal on July 26, 2007. (XV AAP 2726-2737.) This
26 appeal follows.

27 IV. 28 STATEMENT OF FACTS

29 A. The Conflict of Counsel Issues—Grounds One, Two, Three, Five and Twenty-Two

30 Ms. Babb was arrested in November 1997. (II AAP 38-42.) She was represented by the
31 Washoe County Public Defender's Office until March 5, 1998. (II AAP 127-130.) The waiver
32 presented to Ms. Babb for her signature was presented to her on her first meeting with counsel.
33 (II AAP 38-42, 79-86 and 127-130.) Although the waiver stated that she was free to consult with

1 outside counsel, it would have been difficult for her to do so from the jail. This was particularly
2 true given her indigent status, her age (18), her lack of sophistication, and the fact that there were
3 no other lawyers who came to visit her.

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