2 3 LATISHA MARIE BABB, 4 Appellant, **FILED** 5 6 JAN 04 2008 No. 49929 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 7 TRACIE K. LINDEMAN CLERK OF SUPREME COURT Respondent. 8 DEPUTY CLERK 9 RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF 10 RICHARD A. GAMMICK LISA A. RASMUSSEN, ESQ. 11 **District Attorney** 12 TERRENCE P. McCARTHY WATT, TIEDER, HOFFAR **Appellate Deputy** & FITZGERALD, LLP 13 P.O. Box 30083 3993 Howard Hughes Pkwy., #400 Reno, Nevada 89520-3083 Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 14 ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 RECEIVED 23 8005 4 0 MAL 24 25

26

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

III. ARGUMENT

The district court did not err in dismissing the second petition as it was untimely, abusive and successive.

Each claim raised by Babb was untimely, by virtue of NRS 34.726. In addition, each claim either was raised or could have been raised in an earlier proceeding. Thus they were barred by NRS 34.810. Such bars can sometimes be overcome. The petitioner must show good cause and

prejudice. *Pellegrini v. State*, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001). Good cause requires a demonstration that some impediment external to the defense prevented the petitioner from complying with the pertinent procedural rules. 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537.

In the district court Babb attempted to overcome the bars by claiming that her first post-conviction counsel had rendered ineffective assistance of counsel. However, as noted by the district court, Babb was not sentenced to death and in a non-capital case there is no right to counsel and thus no right to the effective assistance of post-conviction counsel. 117 Nev. at 887-888, 34 P.3d at 537-38. Thus this claim, even if true, would not overcome the bars.

Babb also asserts that she has some sort of due process right to present whatever claims she wishes, any time she wishes. That is incorrect. The post-conviction action described in chapter 34 is a creature of statute, existing only by the grace of the legislature. ² Consequently, the legislature is empowered to also create the procedural rules governing the action. *See Passanisi v. Director, Prisons*, 105 Nev. 63, 66, 769 P.2d 72, 74 (1989). Our legislature has not provided for the rules espoused by Babb. On the contrary, this Court has consistently rejected the notion that failure to raise a claim through ignorance of counsel, or ignorance of the petitioner, somehow allows it to be raised later. *See Ford v. Warden*, 111 Nev. 872, 879-80, 901 P.2d 123, 127 (1995). Claims are lost by failure to assert them in a timely manner, not just by explicit and purposeful abandonment of the claims. *Id*.

The two justifications to excuse the procedural bars were insufficient as a matter of law. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the order dismissing the second petition for writ of habeas corpus.

²The traditional habeas corpus writ is much narrower than our statutory creature. In such a case, the respondent may justify the imprisonment merely by showing a judgment of conviction from a court of competent jurisdiction. See Ex Parte Watkins, 28 U.S. 193 (1830). In Nevada's statutory post-conviction action, a judgment of conviction is not a defense to the writ, but instead is a pre-requisite to review. See NRS 34.724. Thus our procedural device is about as far removed from a traditional habeas corpus action as one can get.

IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Because each claim was untimely, and each claim had been or could have been raised in an earlier proceeding, and the petitioner did not plead any good cause to excuse the bar, the petition was properly dismissed.

DATED: January 3, 2008.

RICHARD A. GAMMICK District Attorney

TEDDENCE D.M.

Appellate Deputy